RECEIVED
May 11 2022
SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No.: 2017-001795
Civil Action No.: 2014-CP-40-01805

Raglins Creek Farms, LLC,Respondent,

v.

Nancy Dunn Martin,Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Joey R. Floyd
Wesley D. Peel
Chelsea J. Clark
Bruner, Powell, Wall & Mullins, LLC
P.O. Box 61110
Columbia, SC 29260
(803) 252-7693
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Lower Court erred in failing to dismiss Respondent's case under S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-3-340, -360, or -380.
- II. Whether the Lower Court erred in holding that Respondent has a private twenty-foot-wide easement by prescription across Appellant's property.
- III. Whether the Lower Court erred in holding that Respondent has a private twenty-foot-wide easement by grant across Appellant's property.
- IV. Whether the Lower Court erred in holding the same private twenty-foot-wide easement is a public road open to the public for use by the public.
- V. Whether the Lower Court erred in relying upon arguments and evidence regarding necessity.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Court pursuant to a Notice of Appeal filed by Appellant Nancy Martin ("Appellant" or "Martin") on August 22, 2017. Martin appeals the final order of Master-in-Equity Joseph Strickland following a bench trial and the order of Judge Strickland denying Martin's Motion to Alter or Amend Pursuant to Rules 59(e) and 52(b), SCRPC. (R. pp. 4 and 37.)

This action began with a complaint filed by Respondent Country Properties, LLC ("Respondent" or "Country Properties") on March 18, 2014.[*] (R. p. 48.) Respondent, who owns a large tract of property adjacent to Martin's, sought a judgment that Respondent could use a road through Martin's property. (R. pp. 58–59.) The case was referred to the Master-in-Equity on July 28, 2014. (R. p. 1.) Following initial discovery, Appellant moved for summary judgment on September 14, 2015. (R. p. 994.) Following arguments on October 27, 2015, the motion was denied on November 10, 2015. (R. p. 2.)

[* Note: All references to "Respondent" or "Country Properties" herein concern the original plaintiff and purported dominant-estate holder, Country Properties, LLC. During the pendency of this appeal, the property purportedly possessing the dominant estate was purchased by Raglins Creek Farms, LLC, who was substituted as Respondent by order of the Court on March 31, 2022.]

A bench trial was held from March 21 to March 24, 2016. The final order was entered by the Trial Court a few months later on September 27, 2016. (R. p. 4.) Appellant filed a motion to alter or amend on November 9, 2016, listing forty-two grounds for reconsideration. (R. pp. 1161–1168.) Months later, on July 21, 2017, the Trial Court denied the motion. (R. p. 37.) This appeal followed.

However, shortly after this appeal was filed, Appellant sought leave on August 30, 2017, to bring a Rule 60(b), SCRCP, motion before the Lower Court. This Court granted leave on October 5, 2017, and held this appeal in abeyance until the motion was heard and ruled upon by the Master-in-Equity. The motion for relief from judgment was filed on October 24, 2017. (R. p. 1218.) The motion was briefed and then argued before the Lower Court, which granted the motion and ordered a new trial on January 28, 2019. (R. p. 39.) Respondent filed a Rule 59(e) motion, which was denied by order filed March 20, 2019. A second appeal followed.

Respondent appealed the new trial order primarily on the basis that the new evidence supporting the Lower Court’s order concerned necessity. Martin filed a motion in the instant appeal on March 29, 2019, seeking to hold this appeal in abeyance until the second appeal on the new trial order was complete. The Court granted the motion and this case remained in abeyance until the remittitur was issued in the second appeal. After briefing and oral arguments this Court ultimately entered an unpublished opinion reversing the Lower Court’s order for new trial in the second appeal. *See Country Properties, LLC v. Nancy Dunn Martin*, 2021-UP-292 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 4, 2021). The remittitur was filed on August 20, 2021. The Parties then commenced briefing this appeal on the merits of the Lower Court’s orders following the trial in March 2016.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Determining the proper interpretation of a statute is a question of law and the appellate court can review that question *de novo*. *Palmetto Co. v. McMahon*, 395 S.C. 1, 3, 716 S.E.2d 329, 330–31 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting *Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston*, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008)). A declaratory judgment action is not legal or equitable by definition; thus, the standard of review depends on the substance of the underlying issues. *Miller v. Dillon*, 432 S.C. 197, 205–06, 851 S.E.2d 462, 467 (Ct. App. 2020) (quoting *Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009)). “When a suit involves both legal and equitable issues, each cause of action retains its own identity as legal or equitable for purposes of the applicable standard of review on appeal.” *Id.*, at 206, 851 S.E.2d at 467 (quoting *Lollis v. Dutton*, 421 S.C. 467, 477, 807 S.E.2d 723, 728 (Ct. App. 2017)) (internal punctuation omitted).

The issue of whether a road has been dedicated to the public is an action in equity and the Court of Appeals may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Town of Kingstree v. Chapman*, 405 S.C. 282, 301–02, 747 S.E.2d 494, 504 (Ct. App. 2013) (quoting *Mack v. Edens*, 320 S.C. 236, 239, 464 S.E.2d 124, 126 (Ct. App. 1995)).

The issue of whether property has been adversely possessed is an action at law. *Miller v. Leaird*, 307 S.C. 56, 61, 413 S.E.2d 841, 843 (1992) (quoting *McDaniel v. Kendrick*, 386 S.C. 437, 441, 688 S.E.2d 852, 854 (Ct. App. 2009)). In a law action the appellate court’s scope of review is limited to correcting errors of law unless the lower court’s findings have no evidentiary support. *Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 302, 772 S.E.2d 163, 168 (2015) (citing *Townes Assocs. Ltd. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976), *abrogated on other grounds by, In re Estate of Kay*, 423 S.C. 476, 816 S.E.2d 542 (2018)).

The issue of whether an easement exists is a question of fact in a law action and subject to an any evidence standard of review when tried by a judge without a jury. *Ward v. Evans*, 387 S.C.

401, 409, 693 S.E.2d 7, 11 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *Slear v. Hanna*, 329 S.C. 407, 410, 496 S.E.2d 633, 635 (1998)). That is after a bench trial, this Court “reviews for errors of law and reviews factual findings only for evidence which reasonably supports the court’s findings.” *Town of Kingstree*, at 300, 747 S.E.2d at 503 (citing *Eldridge v. City of Greenwood*, 331 S.C. 398, 416, 503 S.E.2d 191, 200 (Ct.App.1998)).

However, the extent of an easement is an action in equity and the appellate court may take its own view of the evidence on that issue. *Id.*, at 302, 772 S.E.2d at 168–69 (quoting *Inlet Harbour v. S.C. Dep’t of Parks, Recreation & Tourism*, 377 S.C. 86, 91, 659 S.E.2d 151, 154 (2008)). Additionally, “[i]f an action is viewed as interpreting a deed, it is an equitable matter and the appellate court may review the evidence to determine the facts in accordance with the court’s view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *K & A Acquisition Grp., LLC v. Island Pointe, LLC*, 383 S.C. 563, 571, 682 S.E.2d 252, 256 (2009) (quoting *Slear*, at 410, 496 S.E.2d at 635).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The River Place Partition

This story begins in 1884 when a three-person panel was appointed by the Fairfield County Court of Common Pleas to partition the lands of Mrs. Mary Peay Black. (*See R. p. 669* (part of the judgment roll entry for *Desportes v. Myers, et al.*)). The panel recounts that they had visited the premises in question and appointed a surveyor to evenly divide Mary’s lands amongst her six daughters. (*See R. pp. 669–70.*) The first property they divided was “River Place.” (*R. pp. 669–70.*) The property called River Place was a large one, running along Raglin Creek at the Richland and Kershaw County border near the Wateree River. The property above Mary’s belonged to the English family; the property below Mary’s to her brother, Austin Black.

The commissioned surveyor undertook to subdivide the property into twelve pieces, two for each daughter. The panel portioned out the lots as follows:

Mattie LeCompte Black (DesPortes)	Tracts E and No. 1
Leila S. Black (Miller)	Tracts D and No. 2
Mary P. Black (Nance)	Tracts C and No. 3
Ella J. Black (Miller)	Tracts F and No. 4
Eunice L. Black (Palmer)	Tracts A and No. 6
Virginia J. Black (McSwain)	Tracts B and No. 5

(R. pp. 669–70.) Each daughter received one numbered lot and one lettered lot. The letters and numbers correspond to the surveyor’s plat. (R. p. 683.) It is difficult to align the Partition Plat with future, more geographically precise plats, but an understanding of the Black partition is key to tracing the rather confusing documents that lead us to the present day.

Partition Tract C

In 1911, a man named Cordero M. Martin purchased Partition Tract C from Mary Black Nance. The deed, recorded at Richland County Book X, page 383, was not entered into evidence by Respondent during its attempts to establish chain of title, but the 1892 transaction is referenced in Plaintiff’s Exhibit 20, the notes of Respondent’s title abstractor, Anna Williams. (R. p. 685, ¶ 8.) Respondent does not contend, nor did the Lower Court find, that there was an easement in the deed between Mary Black Nance and Cordero Martin, Appellant’s great-grandfather. In 1911, Cordero Martin deeded Partition Tract C to his wife, who went by the name “Ossie” Martin. That deed too was omitted from evidence by Respondent but is referenced in Ms. William’s notes. (R. p. 684, ¶ 7.) Tract C is the left-most, or western-most, tract at issue in this case.

Partition Tract D

In 1918, Ossie Martin added Partition Tract D to the land she received from her husband. (See R. p. 706.) Ossie purchased the property from John H. Miller. (R. p. 706.) Dr. Miller

presumably inherited Tract D from his late wife, Leila Miller, who died shortly after the partition was completed.¹ It is from this deed that Respondent forms part of its theory of easement by grant.

The language of the deed reads as follows.

In the County of Richland and State of South Carolina all of that plot or part, piece or parcel and tract of land situate, lying and being near Raglins Creek in said County and State aforesaid and said to contain One Hundred Forty (140) acres, more or less of land known as tract (D) upon the original plat for partition of the lands of Mistress Mary P. Black, decease, and others filed in the office of Clerk of Court of Common Pleas for Fairfield County S.C. and Bounded by the lands of Dr. Bernes, C.M. Martin share of Mattie C. Desportes and Mistress Ella I. Miller. With the Exception of a permanent right of way of Twenty (20) feet from a certain road passing by lands of C.M. Martin and this said road runs through this said plat and this said right of way to be in force from said road running through this said plantation back to said lands of J.H. Miller and Ella T. Miller said right of way to be left open and kept open for plantation uses of said J.H. Miller and Ella T. Miller, their successors or assigns forever and this to be binding for the right of way through said plat or plantation of land for purposes to be and is agreed to be binding forever upon said Osee M. Martin her heirs and assigns for plantation uses only, and for the protection of said property of said J.H. Miller and Ella T. Miller.

(R. p. 706.) The first and most critical piece of this language is use of the phrase “by the lands” for the description of the right of way. The lands of C.M. Martin was simply Tract C, as outlined above. If indeed this language does form an easement for the use of J.H. and Ella Miller, it is solely an easement through the purchased land, Tract D. However, Respondent’s title abstractor, Ms. Williams, testified strongly that there was no reservation of any type of right in the Tract D chain of title. (R. p. 180, ll. 10–16.)

¹ After Leila’s death in 1885, Dr. Miller went on to marry Leila’s sister Ella, which only served to add more confusion to the tracing of the Black Family land. See Yates Snowden & H.G. Cutler, *History of South Carolina Volume IV* 101 (Lewis Publishing Co. 1920), available at <https://books.google.com/books?id=7EoUAAAAYAAJ&pg=PA2-IA1#v=onepage&q&f=false>. As a matter of legal curiosity, it is worth noting that Dr. Miller’s death led to a suit over his ownership of certain bank shares in a case captioned, *Chandler v. Abney*, 166 S.C. 523, 165 S.E. 190 (1932).

Ossie Martin's Land

After Ossie Martin received Tract C from her husband and purchased Tract D herself, her land was combined and then subdivided for the benefit of her heirs. (R. p. 762.) The resulting plat, completed in 1930, shows Partition Tracts C and D subdivided into six pieces of 41 acres each. (R. p. 762.) At that time, the land above Ossie's was still referred to by the English family name, while Dr. Burney (or Dr. Bernes, in the deed above) had acquired the "Austin Black land" below. Meanwhile, Mattie DesPortes' Estate still owned Partition Tract E to the right.

Around the time of the Great Depression, taxes went delinquent on Ossie's property. Fortunately, however, in 1936, Ossie's daughter, Florence Martin Van Horton, was able to repurchase the property from tax collector Ellen I. Butler. (R. p. 705.) The land in that deed was still identified as the two separate pieces that Ossie had owned. (R. p. 705.) The deed first referenced the 122 acres purchased by Cordero (Tract C) and the 140 acres purchased by Ossie (Tract D). The main change was an acknowledgement that one of the 41-acre subdivided parcels had been transferred to Cordero and Ossie's son, Alexander Myers Martin. (R. p. 705.) The tax deed did recite the easement language used by J.H. Miller when Tract D was conveyed. (R. p. 705.) Shortly thereafter, Florence Martin Van Horton conveyed the same properties described in the tax deed to her brother, Edward Frank Martin, Sr. (R. p. 704.) Once again, the same easement language was recited. (R. p. 704.) This deed, from 1939, became the last time any mention of the purported easement over Partition Tract D was ever made.

Subdivided Lots Three through Six

Nearly thirty years later, in 1967, Edward Sr. passed away. Edward Sr. left a life estate in the land to his wife Jessie Dunn Martin. When she passed in 1985, the land went to Edward Sr. and Jessie's children Jessie Martin Pratt, Edward Frank Martin, Jr., and Naomi Martin Jackson. (See R. p. 702.) However, at this point references to the land switched from those used in the tax

deed to those used in Ossie's subdivision plat. In 1990, Edward Jr.'s sisters, Jessie and Naomi, deeded their interest in "Parcels 3, 4, 5, and 6, containing in the aggregate 164.0 acres, more or less" to their brother. (R. p. 702.) At the time of the tax deed, roughly 221 acres were repurchased by Florence—that is, 122 acres, less 41, plus 140. There is no explanation offered by Respondent as to where the remaining land went.

Ultimately, Edward Jr., Appellant's father, deeded Parcels 3, 4, 5, and 6 into a trust created in 2004. (R. p. 699.) By that time, Richland County was treating Parcel 3 of Ossie's subdivision as a single lot with TMS Number R38000-03-15, while Parcels 4 through 6 were treated collectively as TMS Number R38000-03-07. Following Edward Jr.'s death in 2006, the two parcels (covering lots 3 through 6) were deeded to his daughter, Nancy Martin. (R. p. 694.) A corrective version of that deed was filed the next year in 2007, forming the last link in the chain of title for Lots 3 through 6. (R. p. 686.) That chain has been referred to by Respondent as covering the "Martin Tract." However, because Dr. Miller only deeded Ossie Martin 140 acres, it is clear that no matter how the property lines mutated in the intervening century, the purported easement in Dr. Miller's deed could not cross all 164 acres contained in Lots 3 through 6 as they exist today.

Partition Tract E

The next chapter in this story concerns Partition Tract E, inherited by Mattie LeCompte DesPortes from her mother through the Black partition. Tract E is a quasi-triangular lot on the right-most, or eastern-most, side of the lettered Black family tracts. Mattie retained this lot until her death, when it devolved upon her devisees, John A. DesPortes, Sr., Henry W. DesPortes, Jr., William S. DesPortes, and Eleanor D. Peay.² (R. p. 724.) These devisees were amongst her

² Like Dr. Miller, Mattie's death also inspired litigation, although in her case, it was a matter of construction of her will. See *DesPortes v. DesPortes*, 157 S.C. 407, 154 S.E. 426 (1930). In the will, there is a reference to land in Fairfield and Richland inherited from her mother, Mary P. Black. *Id.*, 154 S.E. at 427. Presumably this is a reference to the properties partitioned in 1884.

children. Subsequently, her grandson John A. DesPortes, Jr. came to stand in the shoes of his father, John Sr., as his devisee. (R. p. 724.) These collective beneficiaries sold Tract E to Cordero and Ossie's son Fletcher Randolph Martin in 1948. (R. p. 725.) The deed identifies the property as "tract 'E' of the Black Estate lands" containing "one hundred eight and two-tenths (108.2) acres, more or less." (R. p. 724.) No easement language was included in the deed.

This land changed hands multiple times through the following years and mysteriously, the parcel changed size significantly between Fletcher's purchase in 1948 and the sale of the property by his intestate heirs in 1971. (*Compare* R. p. 724 (description of 108.2 acres) *with* R. p. 716 (description of 65.51 acres); *see also* R. p. 179, ll. 5–6.) Fletcher's heirs sold the tract to Joe Earl Taylor, C. Lem Harper, and John V. Green in in 1971. (R. pp. 716–17.) Those three purchasers sold the property to Raymond R. Tucker in 1973. (R. pp. 720–21.) The property then transitioned to Tucker Enterprises, Inc. by virtue of Raymond's will in 1975.³ Tucker Enterprises, Inc. sold the property to Rufus Duncan Lewis, Jr. in 1976. (R. pp. 713–14.) The next two purported transactions in the chain of title are not in evidence, other than notes made by Ms. Williams, the title abstractor for Respondent. Presumably, however, Rufus deeded the property to his wife, Charlotte P. Lewis in 1983. (*See* R. p. 707, ¶ 3.) Two years later, Charlotte deeded the property to her and Rufus' three children, Laura Jane Lewis Allen, Charlotte Lynn Lewis Grimes, and Rufus Duncan Lewis III. (*See* R. p. 707, ¶ 2.)

The property remained with the Lewis family until 2012, when Appellant bought back the property that used to belong to her Great Uncle, Fletcher Randolph Martin. (R. pp. 709–10.) By that point, the land was described as containing 65.06 acres. Because the property was most recently owned by the Lewis family, this parcel, TMS R38000-03-08, has been called the "Lewis

³ None of the probate related documents are in evidence, but the transition is noted at Paragraph 5 of Ms. William's notes. (R. p. 707, ¶ 5.)

Tract” for purposes of this case. There is no easement language anywhere in the chain of title for Partition Tract E or “the Lewis Tract” between the partition action in 1884 and the present day.

Plaintiff’s Chain of Title

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