**RECEIVED**

**May 11 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

APPEAL FROM THE RICHLAND COUNTY  
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

The Honorable Joseph M. Strickland, Master-in-Equity  
Trial Court Case No.: 2014-CP-40-01805

---

Appellate Case No.: 2017-001795

---

Raglins Creek Farms, LLC.....Respondent,

vs.

Nancy Dunn Martin.....Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

John W. Wells, Esquire  
Baxley, Pratt & Wells, P.A  
P.O. Box 10  
Lugoff, SC 29078  
[jwells@baxleywells.com](mailto:jwells@baxleywells.com)

M. Brent McDonald, Esquire (S.C. Bar 78057)  
Bundy McDonald, LLC  
1516 Old Trolley Road, 2<sup>nd</sup> Floor

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Many of the factual arguments now made by the Appellant are not preserved for appellate review.**

“An appellate court will not consider an issue that has not been preserved for appellate review.” *Ulmer v. Ulmer*, 369 S.C. 486, 490, 632 S.E.2d 858, 861 (2006). “[A]n issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court] to be preserved for appellate review.” *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998).

A review of this record on appeal, including Appellant's post-trial motions, demonstrates that many of the factual issues raised by the Appellant in its brief were never made to or ruled

upon by the trial court. As such, any factual issue now raised for the first time is not preserved for appellate review.

**II. The trial court correctly ruled that there is an easement by express grant to the property of Respondent.**

An easement is a right given to a person to use the land of another for a specific purpose. *Murrells Inlet Corp. v. Ward*, 378 S.C. 225, 232, 662 S.E.2d 452, 455 (Ct.App.2008). An easement may arise in three ways: (1) by grant; (2) from necessity; and (3) by prescription. *Frierson v. Watson*, 371 S.C. 60, 67, 636 S.E.2d 872, 875 (Ct.App.2006). “A reservation of an easement in a deed by which lands are conveyed is equivalent, for the purpose of the creation of the easement, to an express grant of the easement by the grantee of the lands.” *Id.* (quoting *Sandy Island Corp. v. Ragsdale*, 246 S.C. 414, 419, 143 S.E.2d 803, 806 (1965)). “As a general rule, to constitute a grant of an easement, any words clearly showing the intention to grant an easement are sufficient.” *Ten Woodruff Oaks v. Point Development*, 683 S.E.2d 510, 385 S.C. 172 (S.C. App., 2009). “Whether a grant in a written instrument creates an easement and the type of easement created are to be determined by ascertaining the intention of the parties as gathered from the language of the instrument; the grant should be construed so as to carry out that intention.” *Id.*

In the Final Order, the trial court found that Respondent’s and Appellant’s chain of title established a specifically located twenty (20) foot wide express easement by grant. (Final Order, R. pp. 29-31). The evidentiary basis for this finding was as follows:

Plaintiff’s Chain

Defendant’s Chain

“Lewis” Chain

Plaintiff Ex.1 (R. p. 630)  
Plaintiff Ex. 18 (R. p. 669)  
Plaintiff Ex. 19 (R. p. 683)  
Plaintiff Ex. 17 (R. p. 667)  
Plaintiff Ex. 15 (R. p. 665)

Plaintiff’s Ex. 20 (R. p. 684)  
Plaintiff Ex. 18 (R. p. 669)  
Plaintiff Ex. 19 (R. p. 683)  
Plaintiff Ex. 29 (R. p. 706)  
Plaintiff Ex. 28 (R. p. 705)

Plaintiff’s Ex. 30 (R. p. 707)  
Plaintiff’s Ex. 36 (R. p. 724)  
Plaintiff’s Ex. 37 (R. p. 726)  
Plaintiff’s Ex. 35 (R. p. 723)  
Plaintiff’s Ex. 34 (R. p. 720)

Plaintiff Ex. 16 (R. p. 666)	Plaintiff Ex. 27 (R. p. 704)	Williams, pp. 66-67 (R. pp. 169-170)
Plaintiff Ex. 14 (R. p. 664)	Williams, p. 60 (R. p. 163)	Plaintiff's Ex. 32 (R. p. 713)
Plaintiff Ex. 13 (R. p. 663)	Plaintiff's Ex. 26 (R. p. 702)	Williams, pp. 64-65 (R. pp. 167-168)
Plaintiff Ex. 12 (R. p. 662)	Plaintiff's Ex. 25 (R. p. 699)	Plaintiff's Ex. 31 (R. p. 709)
Plaintiff Ex. 11 (R. p. 661)	Plaintiff's Ex. 24 (R. p. 694)	
	Plaintiff's Ex. 21 (R. p. 686)	
Williams, pp. 36-49 (R. pp. 139-152)		
Plaintiff Ex. 9 (R. p. 656)		
Plaintiff Ex. 10 (R. p. 660)		
Plaintiff Ex. 7 (R. p. 652)		
Plaintiff Ex. 8 (R. p. 655)		
Williams, pp. 27-28 (R. pp. 130-131)		
Plaintiff Ex. 5 (R. p. 646)		
Plaintiff Ex. 6 (R. p. 651)		
Plaintiff Ex. 4 (R. p. 638)		
Plaintiff Ex. 3 (R. p. 633)		
Plaintiff Ex. 2 (R. p. 632)		

As found in the Court's Order, the express grant of the twenty (20) foot easement is in the Respondent's chain and the Appellant's chain—as it necessarily would need to be. (Id). Importantly, at the time of the 1948 transfer of Tract "E" (the Lewis Tract) from Desportes to F. Martin, Desportes had already conveyed out the easement over Tract "E," on December 21, 1926, to Respondent's predecessor in title. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 17 R. p. 667). The same is true for Tract "D" because at the time of conveyance of Tract "D" to Appellant's predecessor in title (Ossie Martin) Respondent's predecessor in title reserved the easement for the lands of Respondent. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 29, R. p. 706 and Exhibit 17, R. p. 667); see also Testimony of Williams, p. 60, lines 20-24 (R. p. 163). The language in the deeds is clear that Appellant's title is subject to an express easement over its property to the property of Respondent. "One claiming title by deed [here Appellant claims title by deed] has no greater title than the original grantor in the chain of title upon which he relies." *Hoogenboom v. City of Beaufort*, 315 S.C. 306, 313, 433 S.E.2d 875, 880 (Ct.App. 1992). Appellant received her title subject to the easement. Appellant cannot now

argue that she has greater title (i.e. title without the easement) than she actually received (title subject to the easement). The express easement is appurtenant to the property of Respondent.

Moreover, Respondent also entered into evidence aerial photographs between 1943 and 2013 showing the disputed road as the only west to east road through the lands of the defendant to the lands of the Plaintiff. (Plaintiff's Exhibits 42-46 R. p. 738). Each of the witnesses offered by the Respondent testified that they used the disputed road to access Respondent's property. Therefore, given the language of the deeds and all of the surrounding circumstances, the trial court correctly held that Respondent has a twenty (20) foot express easement over the property of Appellant.

The trial court also correctly rejected the defenses to Respondent's claim of an express easement offered by Appellant related to the abandonment, statute of limitations and adverse possession of the easement.

First, "termination of an easement by abandonment is a factual question in an action at law." *Judy v. Kennedy*, 398 S.C. 471, 728 S.E.2d 484 (Ct.App. 2012). "An easement may be lost by abandonment and in determining such a question the intention of the owner to abandon is the primary inquiry." *Id.* Absent an express abandonment, an abandonment may be shown "where there appears some clear and unmistakable affirmative act or series of acts clearly indicating, either a present intent to relinquish the easement, or purpose inconsistent with its further existence." *Id.* "The burden of proof is upon the claiming party to show the abandonment by clear and unequivocal evidence." *Id.* The "burden is a high one that cannot be satisfied by mere nonuse." *Id.* In the present case, there is no evidence in the record of any intent of Respondent nor any of its predecessors in title to abandon the easement. In fact, the evidence is quite to the contrary in

that the Respondent and its predecessors in title continually used the easement to access it's property. As such, the trial court correctly rejected Appellant's argument of abandonment.

Second, the trial court correctly rejected Appellant's statute of limitations argument. Appellant asserts that the forty-year statute of limitations found at S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-380 bars the Respondent's claim for an express easement. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-380 requires an action to be commenced within forty years from when the party claiming an interest in property (in this case the easement) "was actually in possession of the same." S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-380. The evidence is replete that Plaintiff and its predecessors in title were in possession of and using the easement well within forty (40) years of the filing of this action. (Guy Testimony, (R. p. 259-, line 7-p. 260, line 12); Cecil Brazell Testimony, (R. p. 192, line 16-p. 195, line 4); Dargan Testimony, (R. p. 309, line 3-p. 312, line 24); LaFaye Testimony, (R. p. 322 Line 12-p. 329, line 11); Baker Testimony, (R. p. 336, line 14-p. 340, line 23); Podell Testimony, (R. p. 425, line 16-p. 426, line 17.)). As such, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-380 has no application to this case.

Appellant next asserts that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-340 bars Respondent's claim for an easement because the easement was obstructed for more than ten (10) years prior to the filing of this action. This argument is unfounded as well. As cited above, Respondent presented evidence that the so-called obstruction (i.e. the gate) did not stop it or its predecessors in title from using the easement in the usual and customary way they always used the easement. Therefore, neither Respondent nor its predecessors in title were "seized" of the possession of their easement for more than ten years prior to the filing of the action. Moreover, the existence of a gate upon an easement is permitted in South Carolina and does not give rise to a statute of limitations defense related to an express easement. *See Judy*, 728 S.E.2d at 486-487.

The final statute of limitations argument submitted by Appellant relies on S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-360. Quite simply, this section does not apply to express easements or prescriptive easements. It is axiomatic that one would not commence an action to enforce an express grant. Additionally, this section has never been applied to a prescriptive easement, and it cannot be applied to a prescriptive easement because the dominant estate holder is forced to establish continuous entries over twenty (20) years. The dominant estate holder could never establish the required twenty (20) years if it was statutorily mandated to file an action within one (1) year of entry.

Finally, Appellant cites no authority that the statutes of limitations asserted above apply to a publicly dedicated road. The interest in a publicly dedicated road belongs to the public and cannot be “waived” through a statute of limitations or otherwise by a single individual or entity.

**III. The trial court correctly ruled that Respondent established a prescriptive easement over the property of Appellant.**

In order to establish a prescriptive easement, the claimant must identify the thing enjoyed, and show his use has been open, notorious, continuous, uninterrupted, and contrary to the true property owner’s rights for a period of twenty years. *Simmons v. Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc.*, 419 S.C. 223, 797 S.E.2d 387 (2016). The establishment of a prescriptive easement must be shown by clear and convincing evidence. *Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 772 S.E.2d 163 (2015).

The trial court correctly held that Respondent established a prescriptive easement based upon evidence of adverse, continued, and uninterrupted use for the full 20 years and that the use was not permissive in nature. (C. Campbell (R. pp. 904-908) James Guy (R. pp. 259-263), Cecil Brazell (R. pp. 192-195), Gordon Baker (R. pp. 338-340), William Cate (R. pp.347-348), and James Podell (R. pp. 429-437)).

Appellant argues that the case of *Pittman v. Lowther*, 363 S.C. 47, 610 S.E.2d 479 (2005) prevents, on the facts found by the trial court, the establishment of a prescriptive easement in this case. Respectfully, Appellant is incorrect. First, “in order to satisfy the continual use requirement, the use must only be of a reasonable frequency as determined from the nature and needs of the claimant.” *Jones v. Daley*, 363 S.C. 310, 609 S.E.2d 597 (Ct.App. 2005) citing *25 Am.Jur.2d Easements and Licenses* § 68 (1996) (“[The element of continued use] does not require the use thereof every day for the statutory period or even on a weekly or monthly basis; but simply the exercise of the right more or less frequently according to the nature of the use and the needs of the claimant.”). The needs of the claimant in the present case have been since at least the 1980s for the purposes of recreation, hunting leases and timber operations which do not require or necessitate utilizing the easement every day or even every month. Appellant, however, argues that *Pittman v. Lowther* stands for the proposition that the erection of a gate constitutes an “interruption” sufficient to prevent the establishment of a prescriptive easement. The facts of *Pittman* actually show that there was indeed a discontinuance of use prior to the running of the full twenty years as a result of the erection of an obstruction. 610 S.E.2d 479 (“In 1992, [Claimant] stopped using the road for a period of four or five months while a mutual friend attempted to mediate the dispute.”). The actual holding in *Pittman* is that “actions are sufficient to interrupt the prescriptive period when the servient landowner engages in overt acts, such as erecting physical barriers, **which cause a discontinuance of the dominant land owner’s use of the land**, no matter how brief.” *Id.* (emphasis supplied). In the present case there is no evidence of any discontinuance by Respondent or its predecessors in title, briefly or otherwise. In fact, the testimony from C. Campbell (R. pp. 904-905, James Guy (R. pp. 259-263), Cecil Brazell (R. pp. 192-195), Gordon Baker (R. pp.338-340), William Cate (R. pp.347-348), and James Podell (R. pp. 429-437) establish that the use of

the easement continued on in the same manner from the 1940's into at least 2009.<sup>3</sup> Appellant herself testified use of the easement continued, notwithstanding the gate, into 2011-2012. (R. p. 563). The use of the easement, consistent with the uses to which the dominant estate was put, was not discontinued for any period of time. As such, the trial court was correct in holding that Respondent proved by clear and convincing evidence that continued and uninterrupted use and enjoyment of the easement occurred for a period in excess of twenty (20) years.

Appellant goes on to argue that the use of the easement by Respondent and its predecessors in title was permissive in nature. The trial court, however, correctly held, consistent with the testimony of each of the witnesses, that neither Respondent nor its predecessors in title asked for or obtained permission from the servient estate owner. Appellant attempts to liken the presence of the gate in this case to the facts of *Bundy v. Shirley*, supra, in making the argument of permissive use. The facts of *Bundy* are starkly different from the facts of the present case. In *Bundy*, the party claiming the prescriptive easement stipulated that he received permission to erect a gate on the property of Bundy. The trial court properly distinguished that fact from the facts of the present case where no one testified, much less stipulated, that they sought permission from E.F. Martin, Sr., Jessie Dunn Martin, E.F. Martin, Jr. or the Appellant. The stipulation regarding permission in *Bundy* was at the heart of the Supreme Court's holding. Indeed, the claimant in *Bundy* was given a key to a locked cable by Bundy. The Supreme Court also found that this was evidence of permissive use. In the present case, there is no such key that was given to Respondent or its predecessors in title by any owner or lessee of Appellant's property. As such, *Bundy* is distinguishable from the present case and the trial court correctly held that Respondent and its

---

<sup>3</sup> Appellant argues that there is no testimony of use of Shady Grove Road between 1994 and 1999. However, Mr. Guy testified that he used Shady Grove Road to access the Lloyd property until 1999—when the property was sold to Respondent's predecessor in title. (Trial Transcript, p. 157, R. p.).

predecessors in title used the easement without regard to the rights of the Appellant and her predecessors in title.

Appellant also places much emphasis on the “lock cleanings” it alleges occurred on a gate. First, notwithstanding the claims of Appellant, the gate did not prevent the use of the easement by Respondent or its predecessors in title. In fact, the overwhelming testimony is to the contrary. The trial court correctly found that the use of the prescriptive easement was not done with permission regardless of “lock cleanings” because the use was open, notorious, continuous, and uninterrupted. As such, it is presumed to have been adverse. *Kelley*, supra.

As to the Appellant’s defenses of abandonment, statute of limitations, and adverse possession, Respondent incorporates that portion of this brief above relating to such defenses.

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